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Bef ore GARWOOD, SM TH and DeMOSS, Circuit Judges.

PER CURI AM

In 1990, Robert Edward Towe pleaded guilty to conspiracy to
manuf acture anphetamne in violation of 21 U S C 8§ 846. The
district court sentenced Towe to 108 nonths of inprisonnent and
five years of supervised rel ease. Towe appeal ed his sentence,
arguing, inter alia, that the district court erred by groundi ng his
base offense | evel on the anount of precursor chemcals actually
sei zed by the police, rather than on the anobunt of anphetam ne that
the sei zed chem cals coul d have produced. This Court found Towe's
argunent without nerit and affirmed the district court's sentence.

In 1992, Towe filed a notion under 28 U. S.C. 8§ 2255, arguing
that the district court erred by not reducing his base offense
| evel for acceptance of responsibility. Concl uding that Towe's

claim "is not cognizable wunder the limted scope of relief
avai |l abl e under § 2255," this Court affirnmed the district court's

deni al of Towe's noti on.



In the instant 8 2255 notion, Towe attacks his sentence on
t hree grounds. He argues that: (1) he was entitled to be
re-sentenced under the retroactive anendnent to U S.S.G 8§ 2D1.1
i nvol ving waste materials used in manufacturing anphetam ne; (2)
he was entitled to be re-sentenced under the retroactive anmendnent
to 8 2D1.1 involving "reverse sting operations"; and (3) the
district court erred by not reducing his base offense |level for
acceptance of responsibility.! Follow ng the Governnent's response
to his notion, Towe noved to anmend his notion to assert only his
first argunent.

The district court addressed all three of Towe's argunents.
The court concluded that Towe's first two i ssues were without nerit
and that Towe's third issue already had been raised and rejected.
The court al so noted that "Mywvant denonstrates a tendency to abuse
the wit in requesting the sane relief again." Towe's notion was
di sm ssed with prejudice. Subsequently, the district court denied
as noot Towe's notion to anend his 8§ 2255 notion. Thi s appea
fol | oned.

OPI NI ON

The Governnment argues that Towe's claimis not cognizable in
this 8§ 2255 proceeding because a district court's technical
application of the CGuidelines does not give rise to a
constitutional issue. Relief wunder 8§ 2255 is reserved for
transgressions of constitutional rights and for a narrow range of

injuries that could not have been raised on direct appeal and

Towe does not raise his original issues 2 and 3 on appeal.
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woul d, if condoned, result in a conplete m scarriage of justice.
United States v. Vaughn, 955 F.2d 367, 368 (5th G r.1992).
Nonconstitutional clainms that could have been raised on direct
appeal, but were not, may not be asserted in a collateral
pr oceedi ng.

Al t hough Towe's claim that his sentence was cal cul ated
incorrectly is not of constitutional dinmension, Towe's challengeto
hi s sentence based on the anended § 2D1. 1 provision could not have
been rai sed on direct appeal because he was sentenced in 1990, his
direct appeal was decided in 1991, and the anmended guideline did
not go into effect until Novenber 1, 1993. U S S. G, App.C And.
484. Therefore, the issue is whether Towe has been subjected to a
conplete mscarriage of justice by the district court's denial of
his 8§ 2255 notion. Vaughn, 955 F.2d at 368. Towe's sentence was
valid at the tine it was rendered. The district court's failure to
apply a guideline that was not effective at the tinme of sentencing
does not give rise to a conplete m scarriage of justice.

However, in a notion to anend his 8§ 2255 notion, Towe
requested that his notion be treated as a notion pursuant to 18
U S C 8 3582(c)(2). Under 8§ 3582(c)(2), the court may reduce a
defendant's termof inprisonnent if such a reduction is consistent
wth the applicable policy statenents issued in the Sentencing
CGui delines. Wien a defendant is serving a term of inprisonnent,
and the Quideline range applicable to that defendant has been
lowered as a result of a retroactive anendnment, such as Amendnent

484, U.S.S.GApp. C a reduction in the defendant's term of



i nprisonment may be considered under 18 U S.C. 8§ 3582(c)(2). See
US S G 8 1B1.10, p.s. The district court should have addressed
Towe's notion to amend and thus addressed Towe's notion as a notion
to nodify his sentence pursuant to 8 3582(c)(2). See Foman v.
Davis, 371 U S 178, 182, 83 S. Ct. 227, 230, 9 L.Ed.2d 222 (1962)
(the denial of a notion to anmend w thout substantial reason
appearing for the denial is not an exercise of discretion).

Towe argues that Amendnent 484, which nodified application
note 1 to 8 2D1.1, requires that he be re-sentenced. He argues
t hat, although Anendnent 484 was not effective until Novenber 1,
1993, it is designated to have retroactive effect. The Cuidelines
provi ded that Amendnent 484 be applied retroactively; therefore,
it would apply to Towe's 1990 sentence. See § 1Bl1.10, p.s.

Unl ess otherwise specified, the weight of a controlled
substance set forth in the drug equivalency table refers to the
entire weight of any m xture or substance containing a detectable
amount of a controlled substance. § 2D1.1(c). Prior to 1993, 8§
2D1.1(c), coment. (n. 1.) provided that a "m xture or substance"
had the sane neaning as that in 21 U S C 8§ 841 (prohibiting the
manuf acture of controlled substance). This Court interpreted
application note 1 to allow the calculation of a base offense by
using the weight of a mxture containing a snmall anmount of

control |l ed substance. See United States v. Sherrod, 964 F. 2d 1501,

1509 (5th Gr.1992), cert. denied, --- US ----, 113 S .. 832,
121 L. Ed. 2d 701 (1992), --- U S ----, 113 S .. 1367, 122 L.Ed. 2d
745 (1993), --- U S ----, 113 S.C. 1422, 122 L.Ed.2d 791 (1993),



cert. dismssed, --- US ----, 113 S. C. 834, 122 L.Ed.2d 111
(1992).

Amendnent 484 altered application note 1 to provide that a
"[mMixture or substance does not include materials that nust be
separated from the controlled substance before the controlled
substance can be used." § 2D1.1, comment, n. (1). Noting that the
anendnent addressed aninter-circuit conflict regardi ng the neani ng
of the term "mxture or substance,” as used in 8§ 2D1.1, the
Guidelines indicate that waste products which are used to renove
inpurities or formthe precipitate of a controlled substance are
not to be used in calculating the base offense |evel. Anmendnent
484, U.S.S.G App. C (1993) (citing Sherrod, 964 F.2d at 1509).

Towe argues that he was "arrested in an illicit drug
| aboratory with a flask containing 28.26 pounds of a mxture or
substance containing 12.00 percent phenylacetone (1,538.2438
grans). The other 88.00 percent of the m xture or substance was
waste water and waste by-products of the manufacturing process
(wei ghi ng 24.8688 pounds) that were not controlled or nmarketable
substances[.]" The Governnent argues that Anmendnent 484 does not
apply to the facts of Towe's case because, although chem cals such
as formc acid, formaldehyde, and hydrochloric acid were present
"inthis case,"” they were not included in determ ning the quantity
of drugs possessed. The district court agreed, concluding that the
28. 26 pounds of substance upon which Towe's offense | evel was based
did not contain any additive chem cals. However, this Court's

opi ni on addressi ng Towe's direct appeal supports Towe's claimthat



the total weight of the substance was considered, despite the
presence of waste naterials. Al though this Court stated that
Towe's offense level was based "on the 28.26 pounds of
phenyl acet one actual |y seized,"” this Court cited authority hol di ng
that "in nost cases where a conpound cont ai ni ng a det ect abl e anount
of controll ed substance has been seized, the total weight of this
conpound w Il be considered.” See United States v. MKeever, 906
F.2d 129, 133 (5th G r.1990), cert. denied, 498 U S 1070, 111
S.a. 790, 112 L.Ed.2d 852 (1991).

This Court has not yet interpreted the application of
Amendnent 484. Since the Amendnent is applicable to the present
case, Towe's sentence woul d not be proper if based on an anount of
m xt ure which contai ned waste products. See 8§ 2D1.1, comment. (n.
1). However, it is unclear whether Towe was sentenced based on
28. 26 pounds of phenylacetone, or based on 28.26 pounds of a
substance containing only 12.00 percent phenyl acetone. The
presentence report (PSR) states sinply that the total anount of
drugs consisted of 28.26 pounds of phenylacetone, and the
transcript of the sentencing hearing is contradictory.

Under these circunstances, we believe justice wll be best
served by vacating the district court's judgnent and renmandi ng the
case wWith directions to grant the notion to anmend and thus to
address the 8§ 3582(c)(2) nmotion. The district court should then
determ ne the actual anmount of controll ed substance upon which the
sentence was based in |ight of the application of Arendnent 484.

The order dism ssing Towe's 8§ 2255 notion is VACATED, and the



case is REMANDED to the district court.



